FILED

SEP 1 2 2013

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

No. 13-109313-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

BREONNA WILKINS
Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas Honorable Richard Anderson, Judge District Court Case No. 11 CR 2200

> Randall L. Hodgkinson, #15279 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 Attorney for the Appellant

Nature of the Case

A jury convicted Breonna Wilkins of aggravated intimidation of a witness. The district court imposed an eighteen-month prison sentence and granted probation. This is Ms. Wilkins' direct appeal from conviction.

Statement of Issues

Issue #1: Advising or encouraging a person to exercise her constitutional right to maintain a not guilty plea, including the privilege against self-incrimination, cannot evince intent to "thwart or interfere in any

manner with the orderly administration of justice."

Issue #2: The term "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice" is unconstitutionally vague or, in the alternative, the jury was not instructed on the meaning of "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice"

Statement of Facts

In 2011, law enforcement was investigating a Topeka homicide involving several potential suspects, including F.W., a seventeen-year old girl, and R.W., Breonna Wilkins' boyfriend. (R.8, 163, 176, 181). After R.W. was taken into custody, officers monitored his telephone conversations, including those with Ms. Wilkins. (R.8, 201-02). During an August 2011 conversation, R.W. observed that "if everybody keep their mouth shut, and can't nobody prove nothing." (R.12, 4).

F.W. was dating Z.A. After she was taken into custody, officers also monitored her calls. During some phone calls between F.W. and Z.A., Z.A. indicated that she had talked to Ms. Wilkins. In a September 21 call, Z.A. indicated the following:

[Ms. Wilkins] just asked about you like, do you know what [F.W.'s] doing? I was like yeah, she's thinking about pleaing [sic] or whatever, and then she was like tell her not to because I've talked to like, uh, a couple different lawyers, and they're saying all the DA is trying to do is get everybody to plea out because they don't have enough evidence against. [(R.12, 24).]

In a November 11 call between F.W. and Z.A., the two were discussing news coverage of plea deals made by some of the co-defendants. Z.A. asked F.W. if she had taken a plea and F.W. responded that she hadn't. Z.A. also said that Ms. Wilkins "was like please tell me [F.W.] didn't take it." (R.12, 35-36).

Based on this information, the state charged Ms. Wilkins with alternative counts of aggravated intimidation of F.W., a witness. (R.2, 59-60). A jury convicted Ms. Wilkins as charged. (R, 10, 437). The district court imposed an eighteen-month prison sentence and granted probation. (R.2, 106-10). This timely appeal followed. (R.2, 101).

Argument and Authorities

Issue #1: Advising or encouraging a person to exercise her constitutional right to maintain a not guilty plea, including the privilege against self-incrimination, cannot evince intent to "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice."

A conviction stands in opposition of the Due Process Clause, when the state has failed to prove an element beyond a reasonable doubt. *See In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 361 (1970). Generally, "[w]hen the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal case, the standard of review is whether, after review of all the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the appellate court is convinced that a rational factfinder could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. McCaslin*, 291 Kan. 697, 710, 245 P.3d 1030 (2011). But the instant case really turns on interpretation of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5909—specifically the term "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice." Interpretation of a statute is de novo. *See State v. Cheffen*, ____ Kan. ____, 303 P.3d 1261, 1268 (2013).

The state charged Ms. Wilkins with knowingly preventing or dissuading or attempting to prevent or dissuade F.W. from attending or giving testimony at any civil or

criminal trial . . . authorized by law. . . with an intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration in violation of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5909. (R.2, 60). At the instructions conference, the state clarified that it alleged that the interference consisted of "[t]rying to influence [F.W.] not to give testimony." (R.9, 391).

The record does not indicate any communication with F.W. regarding testimony. Viewed in a light most favorable to the state, Ms. Wilkins advised against becoming a snitch by entering into a plea agreement, which of course would incidentally include waiving her privilege against self-incrimination.

In the September 21 call between F.W. and Z.A., Z.A. indicated the following:

[Ms. Wilkins] just asked about you like, do you know what [F.W.'s] doing? I was like yeah, she's thinking about pleaing [sic] or whatever, and then she was like tell her not to because I've talked to like, uh, a couple different lawyers, and they're saying all the DA is trying to do is get everybody to plea out because they don't have enough evidence against. [(R.12, 24).]

In the November 11 call between F.W. and Z.A., the two were discussing news coverage of plea deals made by some of the co-defendants. Z.A. asked F.W. if she had taken a plea and F.W. responded that she hadn't. Z.A. also said that Ms. Wilkins "was like please tell me [F.W.] didn't take it." (R.12, 35-36).

The state presented no evidence that Ms. Wilkins directly or through Z.A. attempted to dissuade F.W. from testifying. Viewed in a light most favorable to the state, Ms. Wilkins, through Z.A. attempted to dissuade F.W. from pleading guilty thereby waiving her statutory and constitutional privilege against compelled testimony. The legal question, therefore, is whether such advice or encouragement constitutes intimidation of a witness under K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5909.

In closing argument, the state explicitly equated advice against entering into a plea agreement (and thereby waiving the privilege against self-incrimination) with dissuading a witness:

And the allegation in this case is that this defendant had communications with [Z.A.] with the intent to influence [F.W.] not to take a plea. And in context, what plea means, and part of all of these are cooperating and providing evidence for the State." [(R.10, 403).]

The state reiterated its theory later telling the jury that "[p]lea, is a euphemism here for appearing and testifying." (R.10, 431). But, while waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination may be a component of a plea bargain with the state, it is incorrect to equate advice on whether to take such a plea bargain with intent to thwart or interfere with the orderly administration of justice.

Consider a hypothetical where a defendant, if testifying truthfully, would confess to a crime, but whom otherwise is unlikely to be convicted based on the state's remaining evidence. Under the state's interpretation of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5909, a defense attorney that advises this hypothetical client to exercise the right to not testify would be guilty of a crime, possibly a felony. In this hypothetical, the client is a "witness" as defined by K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5908(c)(1). In this hypothetical, an attorney giving such advice would be certainly be dissuading or attempting to dissuade a "witness" from testifying at a criminal trial. And in this hypothetical, if the client does not testify, a factually guilty defendant would not be convicted.

Such advice is not a crime because it is not made with "intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice," an element of the crime, even though it might stymie the prosecution of a person that has committed a crime.

Counsel for appellant could not find any cases interpreting or defining the phrase "intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice."

But it seems absurd that, whatever it means, it encompasses encouraging or advising a person to exercise his or her statutory or constitutional procedural rights. Exercise of statutory or constitutional rights *is part* of the orderly administration of justice, even if it constitutes a hurdle for the prosecutor. There are many reasons a person might advise another to not act as a snitch for the state, some that are more altruistic and some that are more self-serving. But, so long as the person has the right to not testify, encouraging the person to exercise that right cannot evince an intent to interfere with the "orderly administration of justice." Although cooperating plea bargains may be a convenient mechanism for the prosecution to obtain testimony in some cases, the state is not entitled to such cooperation and discouraging someone from such cooperation, even for self-serving purposes, does not impact the orderly administration of justice.

Because advice to exercise a statutory or constitutional procedural right is not evidence of "intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice," the record does not contain sufficient evidence to support a conviction for aggravated intimindation of a witness. This Court should reverse the convictions and sentence.

Issue #2: The term "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice" is unconstitutionally vague or, in the alternative, the jury was not instructed on the meaning of "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice"

Vagueness

"A vague law impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application." *Grayned v. City of Rockford*, 408 U.S. 104, 108-109 (1972). "In determining whether a statute is void for vagueness, two inquiries are appropriate: (1) whether the ordinance gives fair warning to the persons potentially subject to it, and (2) whether the ordinance adequately guards against arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." *State v. Dunn*, 233 Kan. 411, 418, 662 P.2d 1286 (1983). Although it is true that "[i]f there is any reasonable way to construe the statute as constitutionally valid, that should be done," *State v. Rupnick*, 280 Kan. 720, 125 P.3d 541 (2005)), K.S.A. 21-5413(b)(1)(C) neither provides fair warning, nor does it adequately guard against arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Defense counsel did not object to application of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5909 on vagueness grounds. But this Court can reach an issue for the first time on appeal if it: (1) involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts that is finally determinative of the case or (2) if consideration is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent denial of fundamental rights. *State v. Puckett*, 230 Kan. 596, 598-99, 640 P.2d 1198 (1982). The instant claim satisfies both prongs of this test. The constitutionality of a statute is purely a question of law over which this Court exercises de novo review. *See State v. Laturner*, 289 Kan. 727, 735, 218 P.3d 23 (2009). And conviction under a vague statute offends the core of the Due Process Clause, a fundamental right.

As noted in the previous issue, appellate counsel could find no cases defining the term "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice" contained in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5909. What constitutes the "orderly administration of justice?" In the previous issue, Ms. Wilkins suggested that exercise of statutory or

constitutional rights is part of the orderly administration of justice. But, in the alternative that this Court disagrees and holds that advice regarding the exercise of statutory or constitutional rights can evince intent to "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice," the statute does not delineate those circumstances. A person of ordinary intelligence would be left to guess whether their conduct would be a crime under this statute.

Failure to instruct the jury

In the final alternative, if this Court holds that there is a reasonable construction of the statute that would provide notice of when exercise of statutory or constitutional rights can evince intent to "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice," the jury was not told of that construction. Recently, the Kansas Supreme Court held that failure to provide the jury with a proper definition of "endangerment," required to make the child endangerment statute constitutional, required reversal. *State v. Cummings*, ___ Kan. ___, __ P.3d ___ (2013). Similarly, because the jury in the instant case was not instructed regarding any construction this Court might make regarding K.S.A. 21-5909 to save its constitutionality, the conviction in the instant case cannot stand.

Conclusion

Because the exercise of a statutory or constitutional procedural right is part of the orderly administration of justice, advice regarding the exercise of a statutory or constitutional procedural right is also part of the orderly administration of justice. As a result, even if Ms. Wilkins advised F.W. to maintain her not guilty plea, that fact would not support a finding of "intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly

administration of justice."