No. 13-109313-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

V.

BREONNA M. WILKINS Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS HONORABLE RICHARD ANDERSON, JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 11-CR-2200

Chadwick J. Taylor, #19591 District Attorney Third Judicial District Shawnee County Courthouse 200 S.E. 7th Street, Suite 214 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 251-4330, Ext. 4330 (785) 291-4909 FAX sncoda@snco.us

Approved

JAN 15 2014

Lead Attorney for Plaintiff- Appellee

Attorney General of Kansas

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. There was sufficient evidence presented to convict Wilkins of aggravated intimidation of a witness.

Wilkins first argues that the State did not present sufficient evidence to convict her of aggravated intimidation of a witness. Specifically, Wilkins argues that the State failed to present evidence that she attempted to dissuade F.W. from testifying.

When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged on appeal, this court must determine whether, after a review of all the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the court is convinced that a rational factfinder could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCaslin*, 291 Kan. 697, 710, 245

P.3d 1030 (2011). In making this determination, this court does not reassess the weight and credibility of the evidence presented at trial because the weighing of the credibility of the evidence is solely the job of the factfinder. *State v. Murray*, 285 Kan. 503, 540, 174 P.3d 407 (2008); *State v. Hall*, 292 Kan. 841, 859, 257 P.3d 272 (2011). Additionally, this issue deals with the interpretation of K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5909. Interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which appellate courts have unlimited review. *State v. Arnett*, 290 Kan. 41, 47, 223 P.3d 780 (2010).

In order to convict Wilkins of aggravated intimidation of a witness the State had to establish that on or about August 28, 2011, and November 13, 2011, in Shawnee County Kansas, Wilkins 1) attempted to dissuade, F.W., a witness, from attending or giving testimony at any proceeding or inquiry authorized by law; 2) with the intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice; 3) in furtherance of a conspiracy. K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5909(b)(2). (R. II, 84.)

Or in the alternative, the State had to establish that on or about August 28, 2011, and November 13, 2011, in Shawnee County Kansas, Wilkins 1) attempted to dissuade, F.W., a witness, from attending or giving testimony at any proceeding or inquiry authorized by law; 2) with the intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice; and 3) that F.W. was under the age of 18 years old. K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5909(b)(2). (R. II, 88.)

Here, the State presented evidence of all of the required elements of the crime. In viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence to convict Wilkins of aggravated intimidation of a witness. The State first presented the conversations between Wilkins and Wakes to establish the conspiracy

element of the charge. The conspiracy was to try and keep the other co-defendants quiet and to not testify on behalf of the State in exchange for a plea deal.

Wilkins told Wakes, "I'm just worried about you know, what everybody else is saying." (R. XII, 5.) Wakes replied, "[y]eah, I'm saying if everybody keep their mouth shut, and can't nobody prove nothing..." (R. XII, 6.) Wakes and Wilkins also had conversations about Covington, Netherland, and D.R. Wakes asked Wilkins to make Covington "feel fucking miserable for lying." (R. XII, 11.) Also, in reference to Netherland, Wakes stated, "whatever the hell he is doing, tell him to keep his fucking mouth shut" and "[i]t's better safe than sorry." (R. XII, 40.) The two also talk about D.R. being happy as hell, and how D.R. thought he was going to be released from jail. (R. XII, 12.) D.R. had also cooperated with the State as a witness and provided testimony in exchange for a plea deal. (R. VIII, 183-84.)

It was clear based on these conversations that Wakes and Wilkins were trying to get into contact with the co-defendants and tell them to keep quiet and not testify on behalf of the State. The plan and effort to keep the co-defendants from testifying is evident. These conversations show Wilkins' intent to interfere with the orderly administration of justice. Wilkins had a strong motive to keep the other co-defendants from testifying as her own brothers and boyfriend were among those charged in the case. The State presented evidence that each of the co-defendants Wakes and Wilkins spoke of cooperated with the State and testified as State's witnesses.

When the conversations between Z.A. and F.W. are placed in this context, it is apparent that Wilkins statement to Z.A. telling F.W. not to "take the deal" was to attempt to dissuade F.W. from giving testimony and being a State's witness. Although there was

no direct contact between F.W. and Wilkins, there was evidence that through communications with Z.A., that Wilkins attempted to dissuade F.W. from taking a plea deal. Further, from the context provided, taking a plea deal or accepting an offer by the State meant that F.W. would testify as a witness for the State regarding the knowledge she had about the homicide, and likely implicating the other co-defendants. Thus, by telling Z.A. to tell F.W. not to take the deal, Wilkins attempted to dissuade F.W. from testifying on behalf of the State.

Wilkins claims because she never said the magic words, "do not testify," there was no evidence that she attempted to dissuade F.W. from testifying. However, this claim is unreasonable and if the court accepts it, defendants and others can use any other language or code words to dissuade a person from testifying, with the intent to interfere with the administration of justice and it would not be a crime. For example, a person who is attempting to dissuade a person from testifying but uses the language "do not rat them out," "don't squeal," "don't roll," or "don't take the deal" said with the intent to interfere with the administration of justice could not be charged with this crime because they failed to say the magic words "do not testify." This court should not be persuaded by this argument as all of the above phrases, when put into context, can be equivalent to dissuading a person from testifying.

The State specifically asked F.W., "[a]nd as far as you know, as part of your entering into any kind of plea, whether it was when you were a juvenile or when you later entered into your agreement, was it always part of that, that you would appear and testify for the State?" (R. IX, 303.) F.W. responded, "[y]es." (R. IX, 303.) The State established and argued that taking a plea deal was equivalent to testifying on behalf of the

State in exchange for some benefit. (R. X, 430-31.) This was a reasonable inference based on the evidence presented. Therefore, there was sufficient evidence that Wilkins attempted to dissuade F.W. from giving testimony at any proceeding.

Wilkins also argues it is incorrect to equate a citizen's advice to a defendant on whether to enter into a plea agreement with the State with having "the intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice." Wilkins argues that such advice is not a crime because it is not done with the necessary intent required. The statute does not provide any definition for the "administration of justice" nor did the State find any case law interpreting the meaning of this portion of the statute.

Wilkins provides a hypothetical scenario where a defendant, if testifying truthfully, would confess' to a crime, but who otherwise is unlikely to be convicted based on the evidence. If a defense attorney advises his client to exercise his right not to testify in the case, Wilkins argues that the attorney would be dissuading or attempting to dissuade a witness from testifying at trial and possibly guilty of a felony offense.

Clearly, in this hypothetical such advice is not a crime because it is made between an attorney and his client, who have a professional relationship and privileged communication. The advice provided by an attorney to his client is not a crime because it is not made with the requisite intent "to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice." The attorney's intent is to zealously represent his client and is bound to do so through their established professional relationship. The attorney's duty is to his client and the relationship between the two makes this hypothetical distinguishable from the facts in this case.

Similarly, a mother who tell their child, who is a defendant in a case, not to accept a plea deal, but take the case to trial because she believes her child is innocent and should exercise their right to trial does not have the intent to interfere with the administration of justice. The mother's intent is to protect her child.

Here, Wilkins and F.W. had no professional relationship. Wilkins was not F.W.'s attorney, nor did she have a duty to provide advice to F.W. Thus, the relationship between the parties is markedly different here than in Wilkins' hypothetical scenario.

The difference turns on the intent of the person giving the advice. Wilkins intent was to dissuade F.W. and others from testifying at her brothers and boyfriend's preliminary hearing. This intent was to interfere with the orderly administration of justice.

Additionally, plea agreements are commonly offered by the State in order to find an equitable resolution for a criminal case. The majority of criminal cases filed are ultimately resolved by way of a plea agreement between a defendant and the State. The "orderly administration of justice" is a broad term, which includes plea negotiations and plea agreements between the parties. Plea agreements and negotiations are part of the "orderly administration of justice." Just as exercising a statutory or constitutional right is part of the "orderly administration of justice," so too is the waiver of that right. A defendant who chooses to enter into a plea agreement with the State in exchange for truthful testimony regarding information about a crime is waiving their right not to testify, and taking part in the "orderly administration of justice."

A citizen, with no professional relationship to the defendant, who is not bound by the ethical duties of an attorney, and who encourages the defendant not to enter into a plea agreement in order to prevent them from testifying at a preliminary hearing is

10

interfering in the orderly administration of justice. Therefore, this court should affirm the conviction based on the sufficient evidence of Wilkins' intent to interfere with the orderly administration of justice in urging F.W. not to "take the deal."

II. The term "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice" of K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5909 is not unconstitutionally vague and the jury was properly instructed.

Wilkins next argues that K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5909 is unconstitutionally vague. The appellate court exercises unlimited review over claims that a statute is vague or overbroad. *State v. Brown*, 280 Kan. 898, 899, 127 P.3d 257 (2006).

As noted by Wilkins, she did not object to the application of the statute on vagueness grounds or raise this argument before the district court. The general rule is that an issue not raised before the trial court cannot be raised on appeal. *State v. Leshay*, 289 Kan. 546, 553, 213 P.3d 1071 (2009). However, a constitutional issue may be raised for the first time on appeal if: (1) The newly asserted claim involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts and is determinative of the case; (2) consideration of the claim is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent the denial of fundamental rights; and (3) the district court is right for the wrong reason. *State v. Conley*, 270 Kan. 18, 30-31, 11 P.3d 1147 (2000).

Wilkins argues this issue meets the first two exceptions to the general rule. The State contends that this court should not address this issue as it was not properly preserved. However, the State recognizes that this court has addressed constitutional issues for the first time on appeal.

A claim that a statute is void for vagueness necessarily requires a court to interpret the language of the statute in question to determine whether it gives adequate

warning as to the proscribed conduct. A statute that either requires or forbids the doing of an act in language that is so vague that persons of common intelligence must guess at its meaning and will differ as to its application violates the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and is thus void for vagueness. *State v. Richardson*, 289 Kan. 118, 124, 209 P.3d 696 (2009). In determining whether a statute is void for vagueness, two inquiries are appropriate: (1) whether the statute gives fair warning to those persons potentially subject to it and (2) whether the statute adequately guards against arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. *City of Wichita v. Wallace*, 246 Kan. 253, 259, 788 P.2d 270 (1990).

Additionally, the constitutionality of a criminal statute is a legal question over which this court exercises unlimited review. *State v. Moore*, 274 Kan. 639, 652, 55 P.3d 903 (2002). A statute is generally "presumed constitutional and all doubts must be resolved in favor of its validity." *Martin v. Kansas Dept. of Revenue*, 285 Kan. 625, 629, 176 P.3d 938 (2008). Appellate courts have both the authority and the responsibility to "construe a statute in such a manner that it is constitutional," if such an interpretation can be achieved without contorting the legislature's intent for enacting it. 285 Kan. at 629-30.

Wilkins' vagueness argument simply states the contention that an ordinary person would not be expected to know what constitutes the "orderly administration of justice." However, Wilkins fails to support this argument with any authority or further explain what makes this portion of the statute so ambiguous as to leave people guessing as to its meaning. Essentially, Wilkins argues if this court agrees that a citizen's advice to a defendant on whether to enter into a plea agreement with the State can establish "the

intent to thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice," then the statute is vague. Because Wilkins has not briefed the issue this court should consider it waived and abandoned. *Cooke v. Gillespie*, 285 Kan. 748, 758, 176 P.3d 144 (2008) (a point raised incidentally in a brief and not argued there is deemed abandoned); *State v. Berriozabal*, 291 Kan. 568, 594 243 P.3d 352 (2010).

However, even if this court addresses the issue, Wilkins' argument for vagueness fails. The "administration of justice" is commonly synonymous with the "administration of the law." The phrase "administration of justice" is clear and not ambiguous on its face. People of ordinary intelligence associate this phrase with the administration and procedure of the law. Moreover, Black's Law Dictionary defines "Justice" as "[t]he fair and proper administration of the law." Black's Law Dictionary 942 (9th ed. 2009).

Administration of the law is commonly known as the processing of a case through the court system. The administration of the law in a criminal case encompasses the court hearings, a jury or bench trial, a plea agreement and negotiations, and sentencing of the defendant. Put in the context of the entire language of the statute of aggravated intimidation of a witness, the ordinary person would not be left guessing as to what interfering with the "administration of justice" means. Although K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5909 does not expressly define the term "administration of justice," its meaning is clear and is not susceptible to confusion, especially when it is read in context with the rest of the statutory language. The statute gives sufficient warning of prohibited conduct under common understanding and provides an adequate safeguard against arbitrary enforcement.

Furthermore, "[a] jury is expected to decipher many difficult phrases without receiving specific definitions, such as the term 'reasonable doubt." *State v. Robinson*, 261 Kan. 865, 934 P.2d 38 (1997). In *Robinson*, our Supreme Court addressed whether a jury could determine what the phrase "extreme indifference to the value of human life" meant or whether the phrase was so vague that a jury needed a definitional instruction to explain it. The Court concluded that the phrase "extreme indifference to the value of human life" in the elements instruction of unintentional second-degree murder was not so vague that a jury needs an explanation of it. 261 Kan. at 877. Similarly, here the jury did not need a separate definition for the phrase "orderly administration of justice."

Lastly, Wilkins argues that if the statute is not deemed to be vague, the jury should have been instructed as to what "thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice" meant. Wilkins cites to *State v. Cummings*, 297 Kan. 716, 305 P.3d 556 (2013), as support for this contention, but provides no additional argument. Again, because Wilkins has only incidentally raised the issue, it should be deemed waived and abandoned and this court should not address it. *State v. Pratt*, 255 Kan. 767, Syl. ¶ 4, 876 P.2d 1390 (1994).

Even if the court addresses this last alternative argument, it should find it unpersuasive. In *Cummings*, our Supreme Court held that the district court's failure to define the term "reasonable probability" in the jury instruction of endangering a child was legally erroneous. 297 Kan. at 732. The phrase "reasonable probability" within the instruction was regarding the legal standard the jury must have applied in determining the defendant's criminal culpability. 297 Kan. at 733. However, here, the phrase "thwart or

interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice" was not instructing the jury as to the legal standard of Wilkins criminal culpability. This portion of the instruction was a factual circumstance to be determined by the jury.

Moreover, Wilkins fails to provide a definition that the jury should have been instructed or how this definition would have made the language more clear and understandable to the jury. Also, there is no indication in the record that the jury was confused or unclear about this phrase of the instruction. The jury did not submit any questions to the district court regarding the instruction. Therefore, the jury was properly instructed in this case and this court must affirm Wilkins' conviction.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the State of Kansas respectfully requests the Kansas Court of Appeals affirm Wilkins' conviction.